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2022 10

54,225,899.21 100.03
16,777.58 0.03
54,209,121.63
100.00
5,153
30 2022 10
AUSTRALIA AND NEW
ZEALAND BANKING 126,861.00 [ 20.749 | 2,632,249.38| 25.210| 3,198,165.81 | 5.90
GROUP AU LINE
TELSTRA GROUP LTD
AUD 804,577.00| 3.339| 2,686,265.94| 3.860| 3,105,667.22| 5.73
AURIZON HLDGS AU
LINE 691,627.00 | 4.258 | 2,944,654.44 3.640| 2,517,522.28| 4.64
WOODSIDE ENERGY
69,506.00 | 24.318 | 1,690,279.07 | 36.000 | 2,502,215.99 | 4.62
AUD LINE
SCENTRE GROUP LTD
AUD 792,529.00| 2.393| 1,896,649.81 2.880| 2,282,483.52| 4.21
MEDIBANK PRIVATE
797,992.00| 2.810| 2,242,098.53 | 2.790| 2,226,397.68| 4.11
LTD AUD
ATLAS ARTERIA
299,975.00| 6.568 1,970,347.05( 6.600| 1,979,835.00| 3.65
STAPLED AUD
NATIONAL AUSTRALIA
61,161.00| 20.391 | 1,247,110.82 | 32.000| 1,957,152.00| 3.61
BANK AU LINE
APA GROUP AUD 170,386.00 [ 10.354 | 1,764,148.50| 10.420| 1,775,422.12 3.28
MACQUARIE GROUP
10 9,524.00 |111.603 | 1,062,906.19 [166.500 | 1,585,746.00| 2.93
LTD AUD
SUNCORP GROUP LTD
S e 131,934.00( 9.796| 1,292,377.66 | 11.360 | 1,498,770.24| 2.76
VICINITY CENTRES
3 767,906.00| 1.577| 1,210,858.71 1.950| 1,497,416.70| 2.76
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NINE ENTERTAINMENT

13 AUD 680,586.00| 1.542| 1,049,585.07| 2.020| 1,374,783.72| 2.54

14 | BHP GROUP LTD AUD 36,452.00| 34.768 | 1,267,379.93 | 37.480| 1,366,220.96 | 2.52
COLES GROUP LTD

15 AUD 81,469.00| 16.590| 1,351,603.09 | 16.270| 1,325,500.63 | 2.45
COMMONWEALTH BANK

16 12,810.00| 70.982 909,273.59 [103.220 | 1,322,248.20| 2.44
OF AUSTRALIA AUD
TRANSURBAN GROUP

17 AUD 95,360.00 | 13.470| 1,284,478.33| 13.270| 1,265,427.20| 2.33
WESTPAC BANKING

18 49,454.00| 19.182 948,614.96 | 23.990| 1,186,401.46| 2.19
CORP AUD
QBE INSURANCE

19 95,672.00| 12.034| 1,151,276.06 | 12.230| 1,170,068.56 | 2.16
GROUP LTD AUD

20 | ALUMINA LTD AUD 861,435.00| 1.785] 1,537,255.55| 1.350| 1,162,937.25| 2.15
INSIGNIA FINANCIAL

21 374,207.00| 3.496| 1,308,266.47| 3.060| 1,145,073.42| 2.11
LTD AUD
AGL ENERGY LTD AUD

22 LINE 162,996.00 | 17.589 | 2,866,878.08| 6.800| 1,108,372.80| 2.04
WESFARMERS LTD AU

23 LINE 24,181.00| 40.631 982,493.29 | 44.040| 1,064,931.24| 1.96

24 | GPT AUD STAPLED 230,118.00| 5.093| 1,172,089.14| 4.220 971,097.96| 1.79
JB HI-FI LTD AU

25 LINE 22,841.00| 35.798 817,654.60 | 41.900 957,037.90| 1.77
INSURANCE

26 | AUSTRALIA GROUP 195,731.00| 4.836 946,502.70 | 4.880 955,167.28 | 1.76
AUD
HARVEY NORMAN

27 234,797.00| 3.811 894,898.02 | 4.030 946,231.91| 1.75
HLDGS LTD AUD
WOOLWORTHS GROUP

28 26,929.00 | 32.304 869,913.22 | 32.780 882,732.62| 1.63
LTD AUD

29 | DOWNER EDI LTD AUD 200,883.00| 5.417| 1,088,269.42| 4.390 881,876.37| 1.63
LOTTERY CORP THE

30 202,887.00| 3.389 687,486.73 | 4.290 870,385.23| 1.61

AUD

2022 10

2022 10
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103,601,504.00 9,847,323 105.48 10,026

2017
74,608,653.00 7,091,552 106.36 10,110

2018
76,836,412.00 7,303,301 107.16 10,186

2019
109,523,671.00 10,410,225 85.97 8,171

2020
97,249,378.00 9,243,553 101.61 9,658

2021
58,337,951.00 5,545,022 94._67 8,998

2022
2021 11 79,566,865.61 7,562,831 98.28 9,342
12 79,536,561.00 7,559,950 101.58 9,655
2022 73,853,272.86 7,019,754 96.32 9,155
77,041,521.65 7,322,797 100.49 9,552
77,984,668.51 7,412,443 105.15 9,995
69,539,107.24 6,609,692 104.74 9,956
64,328,874.72 6,114,460 101.93 9,688
58,337,951.00 5,545,022 94.67 8,998
56,566,672.34 5,376,662 93.39 8,877
57,099,016.84 5,427,262 93.35 8,873
52,037,346.78 4,946,150 86.05 8,179
10 54,209,121.63 5,152,577 90.65 8,616
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2016 28 2.70 257 2017 30 2017 2017
2017
2017 5.39 512 2018 29 2018 2018
2018
2018 4.93 469 2019 28 2019 2019
2019
2019 3.07 292 2020 30 2020 2020
2020
2020 4.54 432 2021 30 2021 2021
2021
2021 6.31 600 2022 30 2022 2022
2022
0.01
5.48
3.39
5.82
15.17
21.76
2.36

100x

100.00
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1,215,026 232,814 982,212
(1,215,026) (232,814) (982,212)
142,056 422,813 701,455
(142,056) (422,813) (701, 455)
280,185 264,595 717,045
(280, 185) (264,595) (717,045)
771,918 215,001 1,273,962
(771,918) (215,001) (1,273,962)
340,173 657,021 957,114
(340,173) (657,021) (957,114)
42,105 382,966 616,253
(42,105) (382,966) (616,253)
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CIMA
FRA
FRA
infoMLRO@sumitrustgas.com
DPA 2017 18
2019 30 DPA
DPA
2016 679 EU GDPR
DPA EEA
EEA
EEA GDPR
EEA GDPR
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ID

GDPR

EEA

GDPR

GDPR

GDPR

GDPR
DPA

10 10
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3.30 3.00
1.65 1.50
0.825 0.75
0.55 0.50
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2022 30
2022 30
2022
26,355,580 ) 3 57,776,491 5,491,655
2 628,976 59,784
13,457 1,279
335,513 31,891
121 12
58,754,558 5,584,621
11,656 1,108
6 404,951 38,491
416,607 39,598
58,337,951 5,545,022
NAV
58,337,951

616,253 94.67 8,998

2022 10 28
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2022 30
2022
1,013,626 3,940,645 374,558
121 12
3,940,766 374,570
55,109 5,238
19,919 1,893
582,497 55,366
40,559 3,855
15,936 1,515
558,559 53,001
42,227 4,014
79,794 7,584
19,620 1,865
136,290 12,954
1,550,510 147,376
2,390,256 227,194
5,149,498 489,460
(7,509, 820) (713,808)
(2,360,322) (224,349)
29,934 2,845

62/204



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 30
2022
2,390, 256 227,194
5,149,498 489,460
(7,509,820) (713,808)
29,934 2,845
(4,345,298) (413,021)
4,198,993 399,114
(38,795,056) (3,687,470)
(34,596,063) (3,288,356)
(38,911,427) (3,698,531)
97,249,378 9,243,553

58,337,951 5,545,022
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2022 30
2022
29,934 2,845
(10,928,188) (1,038,724)
47,268,904 4,492,909
(5,149,498) (489, 460)
7,509,820 713,808
260,048 24,718
5,199 494
(117,426) (11,161)
38,878,793 3,695,429
4,426,139 420,705
(39,511,803) (3,755,597)
(4,345,298) (413,021)
(39,430,962) (3,747,913)
(552,169) (52,484)
1,181,145 112,268
628,976 59,784
(913) (87
4,200,693 399,276
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101.61

3.00
(5.40)

(2.40)

(4.54)

94.67

(2.83 )

(1.98 )
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2016 29

2016 28

2021
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likely than not

50
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9,998
1,234
120,985
39,590
987
116,013
10,211
16,573
7,146
82,214
404,951
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AGL Energy Ltd

Alumina Limited

APA Group

ASX Ltd

Atlas Arteria Stapled

Aurizon Holdings

Australia and New Zealand Banking Group
Bendigo & Adelaide Bank Limited
BHP Group Limited

Charter Hall Retail

Coles Group Ltd

Commonwealth Bank of Australia
Downer EDI Ltd

Endeavour Group Ltd of Australia
GPT Group

GUD Holdings

GWA Group Ltd

Harvey Norman Holdings Ltd
Inghams Group Ltd

Insignia Financial Ltd
Insurance Australia Group

JB Hi-Fi Ltd

Lottery Corp

Macquarie Group Ltd

Medibank Private Ltd
Monadelphous Group Ltd

National Australia Bank

Nine Entertainment

Pendal Group Ltd

QBE Insurance Group Ltd

Scentre Group

Shopping Centres Australasia Property Group
South32 Ltd

Star Entertainment Group Ltd
Stockland NPV

Suncorp Group Ltd

Super Retail Group Ltd

Tabcorp Holdings Ltd
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175,710 1,449,608 2.48
928,627 1,360,439 2.33
157,066 1,770,134 3.03

7,568 618,381 1.06
203,458 1,639,871 2.81
719,769 2,735,122 4.69
123,978 2,731,235 4.68
90,164 817,787 1.40
38,848 1,602,480 2.75
132,769 500,539 0.86
86,822 1,546,300 2.65
15,065 1,361,575 2.33
190,786 963,469 1.65
97,051 734,676 1.26
243,988 1,029,629 1.76
86,113 688,043 1.18
191,708 376,706 0.65
243,900 904,869 1.55
232,909 600,905 1.038
403,395 1,085,133 1.86
209,703 914,305 1.57
24,623 947,001 1.62
142,516 644,172 1.10
10,032 1,650,364 2.83
800,778 2,602,529 4.46
24,027 239,069 0.41
67,136 1,838,855 3.15
728,443 1,329,409 2.28
104,896 463,640 0.79
74,330 903,110 1.55
928,155 2,403,921 4.12
283,348 779,207 1.34
255,193 1,005,460 1.72
308,998 862,104 1.48
422,439 1,525,005 2.61
174,046 1,911,025 3.28
39,971 339,354 0.58
142,516 151,780 0.26



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2022 30

Telstra Corp 876,876 3,375,973 5.79
Transurban Group 87,910 1,264,146 2.17
Vicinity Centres 1,280,982 2,350,602 4.03
Wesfarmers Ltd 20,990 879,691 1.51
Westpac Banking 51,767 1,009,457 1.73
Woodside Petroleum 73,399 2,337,024 4.01
Woolworths Ltd 29,029 1,033,432 1.77
Worleyparsons Ltd 35,039 498,955 0.87

56,555,586 57,776,491 99.04

AUD
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DocuSign Ervelope ID° 6044 C034- 40084 0F 5-0E 1C-310E4 CHCSBCF

AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Assets and Liabilities
June 30, 2022

2022

MNotes AUD
Assels
Investments, fair value {Cost: AUDS6,555,586) 23 57.776.491
Cash 2 628,976
Receivable for units issuad 13.457
Dividends receivable 335,513
Other assets 121
Total Assets 58,754,558
Liabilities
Payable for units repurchasad 11,656
Fees payable & 404,951
Total Liabilities 416,607
Met Assets 53.3.!719'5]
Net Asset Value ("NAV™) per unit - Class AUD Units
{based on Net Assets of AUDSE 337,951 and 616,253 units outstanding) AUD 94 67

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements,

Signad on behalf of the Trustee
DiotaSigeed by Droeasligrmed by,
(s Curtin Dusid B'keeffe

Date: October 28, 2022
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Operations
For the yvear ended June 30, 2022

2022

AUD
Investment income
Dividend income (net of withholding taxes: AUDIL,013,626) 3,940,645
Interest income 121
Total investment income 3,940,766
Expenses
Admimstration fees 55,100
Manager fees 19919
Investment Manager fees 582,497
Audit fees 40,559
Trstee fees 15936
Distributor fees 558,559
Transaction fees 42227
Agent Company fees 79,794
Custodian fees 19,620
Other fees and expenses 136,200
Total fund expenses 1,550,510
MNet investment income 2,390,256
Net realized and change in unrealized loss
Met realized gain on investments in securities 5,149,498
Met change in unrealized depreciation on investments in securities (7.509,820)
Net realized and change in unrealired loss (2,360,322)
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 29,934

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended June 30, 2022

2022
AUD
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations
Met investment incorme 2,390,256
Met realized gain on investments in securities 5,149 498
Met change in unrealized depreciation on investments in securities (7,500 820)
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 20 034
Distributions to Unitholders
Class AUD Units {4,345,298)
Capital Transactions
Units issuad 4,198,093
Units redeemed {38,795,056)
Met decrease in Met Assets resulting from capital transactions (34,596,063}
Total decrease in Net Assets (38,911.427)
Net Assets
Beginning of year 97,249,378
End of year 58,337,951

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

10
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended June 30, 2022

2022
AUD
Cash flows from operating activities
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 29,934
Adjustments to reconcile net inerease in Net Assets resulting from
operations to net cash provided by operating activities:
Purchase of investments (10,928, 188)
Proceeds from sale of investiments 47,268,904
Met realized gain on investments in securities (5,149 498
Met change in unrealized depreciation on investments in securities T.500,820
Change in assets and liabilities related to operations:
Decrease in dividends receivable 260,048
Decrease in other assets 5,199
Decrease in fees pavable (117.426)
Met cash provided by operating activities 38,878,793
Cash flows provided by financing activities
Proceeds from umts issued 4,426,130
Payments for units redeemed (30,51 1,803)
Distributions patd to Unitholders (4,345,298)
Met cash used in finaneing activities (30.430.962)
et change in cash (352,169)
ash at beginning of year 1,181,145
Cash at end of year 628,976
Supplementary infornxation:
Interest pad (913)
Dividends received (net of withholding taxes) 4,200,693

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements,

11
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Financial Highlights
For the year ended June 30, 2022

Class AUD
Units
AUD
Per Unit operating performance:
MAV per unit, beginning of vear 101.61
Income from investment operations (B)
Met investment incoms 3.00
Met realized and change in unrealized loss {5.40)
Total from investment operations {2.40)
Distributions {4.54)
MAV per unit, end of yvear 24.67
Total Retum (A} {2.83%)
Ratios/supplemental data:
Ratio of expenses to average MNet Assets (A) {1.98%)
Ratio of net investment income to average Met Assets (A) 3.05%

{A) Total return 15 caleulated based on the change in the NAV dunng the vear and assuming
that all dividends are reinvested. Expenses ratio and net investment income ratio are calculated
based on the average Net Assets outstanding throughout the vear. The financial highlights are
reflected afier all investment-related and operating expenses.

{B) Results may vary based on the timing of capital transactions. Per umit information is
calculated based upon the monthly average units outstanding during the year.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements,

12
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2022

1. Description of the Trust

Australian High Dividend Equity Fund (the “Fund™) 15 a series trust of Offshore Strategy Fund
(the “Trust™), an open-ended unit trust established by a master trust deed dated July 29, 2016
{the “Master Trust Deed”), under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Fund was constituted by
a supplemental trust deed (the “Supplemental Trust Deed™) dated July 29, 2016, under the laws
of the Caviman [slands. The Fund commenced operations on September 28, 2016,

Pursuant to a merger between Legg Mason Asset Management {Japan) Co., Ltd. and Franklin
Templeton Investments Japan Limited on April 1, 2021, Franklin Templeton Investments Japan
Limited merged into Legg Mason Asset Management (Japan) Co., Ltd as the surviving
company (the “Merger™). Fellowing the Merger, Legg Mason Asset Management {Japan) Co.,
Ltd. changed its name to Franklin Templeton Japan Co,, Lid (the “Investment Manager™). The
Fund’s assets are managed on a day-to-day basis by the Investment Manager. The Investment
Manager delegates sub-investment management duties to Franklin Templeton Australia
Limited (the “Sub-Investment Manager™). International Management Services Ltd. (the
“Manager”™) serves as the Fund’s Manager, SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the
“Administrator’™) serves as the Fund’s Administrator.

The investment objective of the Fund is to seek to obtain income gain and medium to long-term
capital appreciation by investing mainly in stocks and REITs that are listed on an exchange in
Australia. The Fund will put emphasis on income levels and will select securities that pay
relatively high dividends. The Fund will invest in securities that are listed on an exchange,
including REITs and other exchange-traded vehicles. The Fund will pay attention to liqudity
and will seek to build a liquid portfolio.

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, G A8, (Cayman)
Limuted {the “Trustee’™) 15 named as Trustee of the Fund,

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“ULS. GAAP™). The preparation
of financial statements in accordance with U8, GAAP requires the Fund’s management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses dunng the reporting vear. Actual results, including
the ultimate amount realized upon the sale of fair valued investments, could differ from those
estimates and such differences may be significant.

The Fund is an investment company and accordingly follows the Investment Company
accounting and reporting guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™)
946, Financial Services-Investment Companies,

13
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2022
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies followed by the Fund in
preparing the financial statements:

Valuation of Investments
The following valuation policy 15 applied in determination of the wvalue of the Fund’s
investments;

Securities listed on an exchange and which are freely transferable are valued at their last sales
price on such exchange on the date of determination, or if no sales occwrred on such day, at the
“kad™ price at the close of business on such day, Secunities tradad over the counter which are
freely transferable shall be valued at the last sales price on the date of determination, or if no
sales oceurred on such day, at the “bid” price at the close of business on such day. In the event
the Fund acquires securities or other financial instruments for which market quotations are not
available, such securities will be valued at their fair value as determined by the Fund. At June
30, 2022, no fair values of investments were determined by the Fund in the absence of quoted

prices,

Investment Transactions and Investment Income/Expense

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade-date basis (date the order to buy or sell is
executed), Gains and losses on the sale of iInvestments are determined using the first in first out
cost method.

Interest income/expense on investments held'sold is acerued as eamed/ineurred. Interest earned
on the Fund’s brokerage account, if any, will be acerued monthly,

Dividend income is recorded gross of any non-reclaimable withholding taxes suffered on an
ex-dividend date basis,

Expenses
Expenses are recorded on an accruals basis as incurred.

Foreign Currency Translation

Although having not done so during the vear ended June 30, 2022, assets and liabilities may be
held in currencies other than AUD (the *Functional Cwrrency™ and are translated to the
Functional Currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the financial statement date. Income
and expenses are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date on which the income
or expense is incurred. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising on foreign currency
transactions are included in the Statement of Operations n the year in which they occur,

The Fund does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in
foreign exchange rates on investments from the Huctuations arising from changes in market

prices of securities held Such Auctuations are included with the net realized and unrealized
gain of loss from investments,

14
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2022
{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash

The Tmustee has appointed Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited {London Branch) as its
custodian (the “Custodian™). Swmitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited ( London Branch), has in
tum, appointed Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. (“BBH™) as its sub-custodian. Cash comprise
cash with original maturities of 3 months or less held at BEH.

Taxation

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, there are no income, withhol ding, capital gains
or other taxes pavable by the Fund. In certain junsdictions other than the Cayman Islands,
foreign taxes may be withheld at source ondividends and interest received by the Fund. Capital
gains derived by the Fund in such jurisdictions generally will be exempt from foreign income
or withholding taxes at source. Capital gains tax may be suffered by non-residents, such as the
Fund on the disposal of holdings in foreign junisdictions. In certain jurisdictions, these capital
gains taxes are required to be determined on a self-assessment basis and, therefore, such taxes
may not be deducted at source by the Fund’s brokers on a “withholding™ basis. The non-resident
imvestors may be obligated to remut the tax on their own. The Fund intends to conduct its affairs
such that it will not be subject to income tax in any jurisdiction. As a result, no provision for
income taxes has been made in the financial statements, Unitholders may be taxed on their
proportionate share of the Fund's tax basis income based on their individual circumstances.

The Fund follows the authoritative guidanee on accounting for and disclosure of uncertainty in
tax positions (Financial Accounting Standards Board ASC 740}, which requires management
to determine whether a tax position of the Fund is mere likely than not to be sustained upon
examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution of any related appeals or
litigation processes, based on the technical ments of the position.

For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax benefit recognized on the
financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authority. The
Investment Manager has detenmined that there 15 no effect on the financial statements being
under this authoritative guidance.

Guarantees and/or Indemmnifications

In the normal course of business the Trustee and/or Manager, on behalf of the Fund, enters into
contracts that contain a variety of representations, which provide general indemmnifications. The
Fund’s maximmuon exposure under these arrangements 15 unknown, as this would involve future
claims that may be made against the Fund that have not vet ccourred.

15
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2022
{Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

ASC 480

ASC 480, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Charactenistics of Both Liabilities
and Equity”, recognmizes redemptions as Liabilities, when the amount and number of umts
requested in the redemption notice becomes fixed. This generally may oceur at the time of the
receipt of the notice, or on the last day of'a fiscal period, depending on the nature of the request.
Redemptions payable may be treated as capital for purposes of allocations of gains/{losses)
pursuant to the Fund’s goverming documents, As at June 30, 2022, there were redemptions
pavable of AUD11,656.

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures

ABRC 820, “Fair Value Measwements and Disclosures”, provides additional gudance for
estimating fanr value in accordance with ASC 820 when the volume and level of activity for the
assef or liability have significantly decreased and provides guidanes on idenfi fving circumstances
that indicate a transaction 1s not orderly. ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the
highest priority to unadjusted listed prices in active markets for identical assets or labilities
{Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820 are as follows:

- Level | — Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabalities that the Fund has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Lewvel 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or Hability either
dirgetly or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active;

- Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable,

Inputs are used in applying the various valuation technigques and broadly refer to the assumptions
that market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk, A
financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy 1s based on the lowest level of any
input that 15 significant to the fair value measurement. The Investment Manager considers
observable data to be that market data which 1s readily available, regularly distributed or updated,
reliable and verifiable, not proprietary and provided by independent sources that are actively
involved in the relevant market. The categonization of a financial instrument within the hierarchy
is based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessarily eorrespond to
the Investment Manager's perceived nsk of that instrument.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified
within Level 1.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on
quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable
inputs are elassified within Level 2. As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded
inactive markets and/or are subject to transfer restrichions. valuations may be adjusted to reflect
illigquidity and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information.

la
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2022
(Continued)

Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (continued)

Investments classified within Level 3 have sipmificant unobservable mputs, as they trade
infrequently or not at all.

The following table presents the investment in the Fund carried on the Statement of Assets and
Liabilities by level within the valuation hierarchy as of June 30, 2022:

Level 1 Level2  Level 3 Total
Assels AUD AUD AUD AUD
Equities 37,776,491 & = 37,776,491
Total 57,776,491 - - 57,776,491

There were no transfers between the levels during the vear,

Unit Capital
Class AUD
Units
Mumber of units cutstanding at July 1, 2021 957,114
Units issued during the vear 42,105
Units redeemed during the year {382,966)
Number of units outstanding at June 30, 2022 016,253

Ome umitholder holds all of the Units attnbutable to Class AUD Umnts,

The Units are denominated in AUD. Additional classes of Units may be offered in the future.
Class AUD Units are available to an eligible investor who 1s any person, corporation or enfity
which 1s not (1) a citizen or resident of the US, a parmership organized or existing in the US,
of any corporation, trust or other entity organized under the laws of or existing in the US; (i1)
resident or domiciled in the Caviman Islands {excluding anv object of a charitable trust or
power or an exempted or non-resident Cayman Islands company}; {(1i1) unable to subseribe for
or hold Units without violating applicable laws, or {iv) a custodian, nominge, or trustee for
any person, corporation or entity described in (i) to (iil) above.

The Manager may determine to issue one or more ¢lasses of Units of the Fund without prior
notice to or written consent of the unitholders,

Class AUD Units were first issued at an imtial 1ssue price of AUDI00 per Unt. The minimaum
subscription amount per subscriber in respect of each class of unit is fen units, and
subscriptions for more than ten Units may only be made in one Unit increments.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2022
{Continued)

4. Unit Capital (continued)

For subsequent subscriptions by exdsting unitholders, the purchase price per unit will be the
MNAV per Unit of the relevant class of vnits on the valuation day falling on the relevant
subscription day and rounded naturally to two decimal places.

The subscription day for the Fund shall be each business day and’or such other day or days that
the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund,

Units may be submitted for repurchase at the option of wuthelders (1) in the case of the
unitholder who is requesting units to be repurchased in their capacity as a distributor appointed
by the Manager, by no later than 7.00pm (Tokvo ime) on the relevant repurchase day, provided
that such repurchase request relates solely to units in respect of which the unitholder (being the
relevant distributor) has received a corresponding repurchase request prior to 2.00pm (Tokyo
time) on the same day; or (i) in the case of a wnitholder requesting units to be repurchased
directly (and not as a distnbutor appointed by the Manager), prior to 2.00pm (Tokyo time) on
the relevant repurchase day; or, in either case, such other time as the Trustee and the Manager,
after consultation with the Administrator, may in any particular case determine.

The repurchase day for the Fund shall be each usiness day and/or such other dav or davs that
the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund.

Atany time and for any reason, the Manager may, by giving five business days™ notice to all or
any affected unitholders. repurchase units of the Fund at the applicable repurchase price.

The MAV per Unit is calculated by dividing the difference in value between the Fund’s assets
and hiabilities (including accrued fees and expenses of the Fund) by the number of Class AUD
Units outstanding.

The Manager may declare and arrange for the payment of distributions in respect of any class
of units of such amount (if any) as shall be detenmined by the Manager, after consultation with
the Investment Manager, and approved by the Trustee, which may be paid out of the income
and capital attributable to the relevant class of units.

The ex-distribution date will be the next business day afier the last business day of June every
vear and‘or such other date or dates as the Manager may determine (the “Distribution Record
Date™).

The first Distribution Record Date of the vear was on the last business day of June 202 1. There
is no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such amounts.
Dividends of AUDA,345,298 (with an ex-dividend date of July 1, 2021} were paid on July 6,
2021,

The second Distribution Record Date of the year was on the last business day of June 2022,
There is no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such
amounts. Dividends of AUD3, 888,556 (with an ex-dividend date of July 1, 2022) were paid on
July 6,2022.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2022
(Continued)

5. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.
There were no transactions with related parties other than those in the normal course of
business. The Manager, Trustee and related companies (a company that controls or is
controlled by the Manager or the Trustee, often one that is in the same business group) are
dezemed to be related to the Fund. Fees incwrred with related paries during the vear are
disclosed in the Statement of Operations, Amounts payable to related parties at the year end
are disclosed in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities.

SMBC Nikko Secunties Ine., holds 100% of all units in issue, As a result, any actions of SMBC
Mikko Secunities Inc., can materially impact the Fund.

6. Fees and Expenses

Administration Fees
The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.06% per annum of the
MAV, accrued and caleulated as of each valuation day and pavable monthly in arrears.

The Administrator is also entitled to; (a) an establishment fee of USS5,000; (b) an anrmal fee
of USE5,000 in connection with provision of assistance in connection to the preparation of the
financial statements of the Fund; {¢) an annual fee of US$1,000 in connection with filing the
audited accounts of the Fund with the Cavman Islands Monstary Authority; and (d) an annual
fee of USS300 in connection with facilitating the Manager or its delegate in the preparation of
certain reports and/or statements required for Japanese regulatory purposes.

Manager Fees
The Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAV,

acerued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears,

Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.73% per annmum of
the NAV, accrued and calculated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears,

Sub-Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager pays a fee to the Sub-Investment Manager out of the fee received by
the Investment Manager.

However, all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses ineurred by the Sub-Investment Manager in
performance of its duties in relation to the Fund will be pavable out of the Fund,

Trustee Fees
The Trustes receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.02% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and caleulated as of each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2022
{Continued)

Fees and Expenses (continued)

Distributor Fees
The Distributor receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.70% per anmum of the NAV,
accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears,

Agent Company Fees
The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0. 10% per annum of the
MAV, acerued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Custodian Fees
The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and caloulated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears.

The fees pavable as at June 30, 2022 are as follows:

AUD
Administration fees 0. 008
Manager fees 1,234
Investment Manager fees 120,985
Audit fees 39,590
Trustee fees gg7
Distnibutor fees 116,013
Transaction fees 10,211
Agent Company feas 16,573
Custodian fees 7.148
Other fees and expenses 82.214
404,951

(T Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks

The Fund's activities expose it to a varety of financial nsks: market risk {including price nsk
and currency risk), credit nsk and hqudity risk.

Market Risk

All investments present a risk of loss of capital. The Investment Manager moderates this risk
through a careful selection of investments, The primary element of the Fund’s objective 1s to
seek to achieve income gain and capital appreciation over the mid to long term based on its
investment strategy of investing in a portfolio of equities and REITs that are listed on an
exchange in Australia. The Fund’s overall market positions are monitored on a daily basis by
the Investment Manager.

In a falling market environment, the value of the equities held by the Fund may deeline, and
as a result, the NAV may decline below its inmitial principal amount. Also. adverse
developments in an issuer’s economic condiions or such negative events as bankruptey may
cause the value of the equities to deeline substantially and mayv significantly impact the NAV.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2022
{Continued)

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)

Currency Risk

Currency risk is the risk that as cerfain assets of the Fund may be invested in securities and
other investments denominated in foreign currencies, the value of such assets may be affected
favourably or unfavourably by fluctuations in cwrrency rates.

Although having not done so during the vear ended lune 30, 2022, the Fund may enter into
forward foreign currency exchange contracts and hold monetary and non-monetary assets and
incur menetary and non-monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than AUD. It may
therefore be exposed to currency risk, as the value of the assets and liabilities denominated in
other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. The Fund may also enter into
currency hedging transactions from time to time in order to limit its exposure to eurrency risk.

If investing in the securities of companies that are denominated in non-AUD currencies, the
Fund may be exposead to nisks that the exchange rate of AUD relative to other currencies may
change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the reported value of these securities.

Credit Risk
Credit risk represents the potential loss that the Fund would incur if the counterparties failed
to perform pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Fund.

Although the Trustee monitors the Custodian and believes it fo be an appropriate custodian,
there 1s no guarantee that this or any custodian that the Fund may use from time to time, will
not become insolvent, the result of which could lead to losses for the Fund.

While there are codes and acts to protect customer property in the event of a farlure, insolvency
or liquidation of an institution, there is no certainty that, in the event of a failure of an institution
that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund would not incur losses due to its assets being
unavailable for a period of ime, ultimately less than full recovery of its assets, or both. Because
all of the Fund’s cash is in custody with a single institution, such losses could be significant
and could materially impair the ability of the Fund to achieve its investment objective. The
Fund is subject to cradit nisk to the extent that this institution may be unable to fulfill its
obligations to repay amouwnts owed.

Liquidity Risk

Investors should be aware that the value of units might fall as well as nse. Investment in the
Fund involves a degree of nsk; there can be no assurance that the Fund’s investment objective
will be achieved.

The Fund 15 exposed to daily repurchase of its umts but management believes that the Fund
has suflicient resources to meet the present and foreseeable needs of its business operations
and, i1f necessary, the liquidity to fund repurchases and achieve a market position appropnately
reflecting a smaller capital base. This position is monitored continually by management to
ensure that the Fund has the ability to meet its obligations.

21

91/204



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2022
{Continued)

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)
Liquidity Risk {continued)
The Manager, after consultation with the Investment Manager, may declare a suspension of
the repurchase of units n certain circumstances as described in the section of the Offering

Memorandum headed “Valuations - Suspension of [ssues, Repurchases and Caleulation of Met
Asset Value™.

8. Commitments and Contingencies
As at June 30, 2022, the Fund had no commitments or contingencies,
9. Subsequent Events

Management performed a subsequent events review up to October 28, 2022, which is the date
the financial statements were available to be issued,

In September 2021, BEH announced that they have entered into an agreement with State Street
Corporation (“State Street™) under which State Street will acquire BEH's Investor Services
business; which includes its custody, fund accounting and administration, transfer agency,
depositary, foreign exchange and securities lending services. The transaction is expected to be
completed in 2022, subject to customary closing conditions and regulatory approvals,

Effective July 1, 2022 through to October 28, 2022 investors subsenbed AUD937,113 into the
Fund and investors redeemed AUD2, 556,540 from the Fund.

Management concluded that there were no other subsequent events which required additional
diselosure in these financial statements.

The finanecial staternents were approved on October 28, 2022,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Schedule of Investments
June 30, 2022

Nominal Fair Value % of
Equities Holding AUD NAV
Australia
AGL Energy Ltd 175,710 1,449,608 2.48
Alumina Linuted 928,627 1,360,430 233
APA Group 157,066 1,770,134 303
ASK Ltd 7,568 ol8.381 1.06
Atlas Artena Stapled 203,458 1,639,871 281
Aurizon Holdings 719,769 2,735,122 4.69
Australia and New Zealand Banking Group 123978 2,731,235 4.68
Bendigo & Adelaide Bank Limited a0,164 817,787 |40
EHP Group Limited B 1,602,480 2.75
Charter Hall Retail 132,769 S0 539 .86
Coles Group Ltd 86,822 1,546,300 2.65
Commonwealth Bank of Australia 15,065 1,361,575 233
Downer EDI Ltd 190,786 963,469 1.65
Endeavour Group Lid of Australia 97.051 734.676 1.26
GPT Group 243,988 1,029,629 1.76
GUD Holdings 86,113 688,043 1.18
GWA Group Lid 191,708 376,706 0.65
Harvey Momman Holdings Ltd 243,900 004,809 1.55
Inghams Group Ltd 232,900 600,905 1.03
Insignia Financial Lid 403,395 1,085,133 186
Insurance Australia Group 200,703 914,305 1.57
JB Hi-Fi Ltd 24,623 947,001 1.62
Lottery Corp 142,516 644,172 1.10
Maequarie Group Ltd 10,032 1,650,364 283
Medibank Private Litd BOOTTE 2,602,529 4.46
Monadelphous Group Ltd 24,027 239,069 (.41
National Australia Bank a7 136 1,838,855 315
Nine Entertairunent 728,443 1,329,400 2.28
Pendal Group Ltd 104,896 463,640 0.79
CQBE Insurance Group Lid 74,330 903,110 1.55
Seentre Group Q28,155 2,403,921 412
Shopping Centres Australasia Property Group 283,348 779,207 1.34
South3? Ltd 255,193 1,005,460 1.72
Star Entertainment Group Lid 308,998 862,104 [.48
stockland NPV 422,439 1,525,005 261
Suncorp Group Lid 174,046 1,911,025 3.28
Super Retail Group Ltd 39,971 339,354 0.58
Tabeorp Holdings Ltd 142,516 151,780 0.26

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements,
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Schedule of Investments
June 30, 2022

(Continued)

Fair

Nominal Value % of
Equities (continued) Holding AUD NAV
Ausiralia (continued)
Telstra Corp 876,876 3375973 579
Transurban Group 87.910 1,264,146 2.17
Vieinity Centres 1,280,982 2350602 4.03
Wesfarmers Lid 20,990 879 691 1.51
Westpac Banking 51.767 1,009,457 1.73
Woodside Petroleum 73,390 2,337,024 4.01
Woolworths Ltd 29,029 1,033,432 1.77
Worlevparsons Lid 35,039 498,955 (.87
Total Australia {Cost: AUDS56,555,586) 57,776,491 99,04
Symbhaol Currency Country
AUD Australian Dollar Australia

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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2021 30
2021 30
2021
87,746,804 ) 3 96,477,529 9,170,189
) 1,181,145 112,268
240,603 22.869
505,561 56,608
5.320 506
98,500,158 9,362,440
728,403 69,235
6 522,377 49,652
1,250,780 118,887
97,249,378 9,243,553
NAV

97,249,378

057 114 101.61 9,658

2021 12

95/204



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021 30

2021
1,223,160 4,685,983 445,403
21 2
4,686,004 445,405
70,927 6,742
27,123 2,578
791,036 75,188
35,990 3,421
21,698 2,062
758,527 72,098
38,805 3,688
108,376 10,301
26,860 2,553
101,182 9,617
1,980,524 188,249
2,705,480 257,156
(2,431,276) (231,093)
22,379,917 2,127,211
19,948,641 1,896,118
22,654,121 2,153,274
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2021

2,705,480 257,156
(2,431,276) (231,093)
22,379,917 2,127,211
22,654,121 2,153,274
(3,911,063) (371,747)
30,223,472 2,872,741
(61,240,823) (5,820,940)
(31,017,351) (2,948,199)
(12,274,293) (1,166,672)
109,523,671 10,410,225
97,249,378 9,243,553
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2021 30
2021
22,654,121 2,153,274
(20,600,091) (1,958,039)
51,044,914 4,851,819
2,431,276 231,093
(22,379,917) (2,127,211)
(206,556) (19,633)
21,327 2,027
(8,524) (810)
32,956,550 3,132,520
32,424,766 3,081,974
(61,670,054) (5,861,739)
(3,911,063) (371,747)
(33,156,351) (3,151,511)
(199,801) (18,991)
1,380,946 131,259
1,181,145 112,268
(1,650) (157)
4,479,427 425,770
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85.97

2.27
16.44

18.71

(3.07)

101.61

22.54

(1.85 )

2.53




EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2021 30

2016 29

2016 29

2016 28

2021

GAAP
GAAP
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likely than not
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ASC 820
ASC 820

ASC 820

ASC 820

728,403
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2021 30

96,477,529 96,477,529
96,477,529 96,477,529

1,273,962

340,173

(657,021)

957,114

100
10 10
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2020

3,911,063 2020 2020

2021

4,345,298 2021 2021
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5,000
5,000
1,000

500

0.025

0.73
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11,505
2,088
187,724
40,395
1,670
180,010
16,051
25,716
11,121
46,097
522,377
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2021 12

1,635,064
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Assets and Liabilities
June 30, 2021

2021

Notes AUD
Assets
Investments, fair value (Cost: AUDR7,746,804) 2.3 96,477,529
Cash 2 1,181,145
Receivable for units 1ssuad 240,603
Cividends receivable 595561
Other assets 5.320
Total Assels 98,501,158
Liabilities
Payable for units repurchased T28.403
Fees payahle & 522,377
Total Liabilities 1,250,780
Net Assets 97,249,378
MNet Asset Value (“MAV™) per unit - Class AUD Units
{based on MNet Assets of AUDOT, 249,378 and 957,114 wuts outstanding) AUDIOLS]

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Signed on behalf of the Trustes
DiseuBignes By Dis iyt By
(owar (urtin, Dawid 8"k

Date: 0l pecember 2021
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Operations
For the vear ended June 30, 2021

2021

AUD
Investment income
Diavidend income (net of withholding taxes: AUD1,223 160) 4,685,083
Interest income 21
Total investment income 4,686,004
Expenses
Administration fees 70,927
Manager fees 27,123
Investment Manager fees 791,036
Audit fees 35,990
Trustee fzes 21,698
Dastributor fees 758,527
Transaction fees 38,805
Agent Company fees 108,376
Custodian fees 26,860
Other fees and expenses 101,182
Total fund expenses 1,980,524
Net investment income 2,705,480
Net realized and change in unrealized gain
Net realized loss on investments in securities (2,431,276)
Met change in unrealized appreciation on investments in securities 22370017
Net realized and change in unrealized gain 19,948,641
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 21,654,121

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
For the vear ended June 30, 2021

2021
AUD
Net increase in Net Assets resulting from operations
Net investment income 2,705,480
Met realized loss on investments In securities (2.431,276)
et change i wnrealized appreciation on investments in securities 22379917
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations 22,654,121
Distributions to Unitholders
Class AUD Units (3,911.063)
Capital Transactions
Units isspad 30,223 472
Units redeemed (61,240,823}
Met decrease in MNet Assets resulting from capital transactions {31.017.351)
Total decrease in Net Assets (12.274,293)
Met Assels
Beginmng of vear 109,523,671
End of year 97,249,378

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND

A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Statement of Cash Flows
For the vear ended June 30, 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Met increase in Net Assets resulting from operations

Adjustments to reconcile net increase in MNet Assets resulting from
operations to net cash provided by operating activities:

Purchase of investments

Proceeds from sale of investments

et reahized loss on investments in securihies

Met change in unrealized appreciation on investments in securities

Change in assets and liabilities related to operations:
Increase in dividends receivable

Decrease in other assets

Decrease in fees pavable

Met cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows provided by financing activities
Proceeds from units issued

Payments for units redesmad

Distributions paid to Umtholders

Met cash used in financing activities

Met change in cash
Cash at beginning of year

Cash at end of year
Supplementary information:

Interest paid
Dividends received {net of withholding taxes)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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(22,379,917)

(206,556)
21,327
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32,950,550
32 424 To6
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Financial Highlights
For the vear ended June 30, 2021
Class AUD
Units
AUD
Per Unit operating performance:
MAV per unit, beginning of year 8597
Income from investment operations (B)
Met investment incomea 227
Met realized and change in unrealized gain 16.44
Total from investment operations 18.71
Dastributions (3.0T)
MAV per unit, end of year 101.61
Total Return (A) 22.54%
Ratios/supplemental data:
Ratio of expenses to average Net Assets (A) {1.83%)
Eatio of net investment income to average Met Assets (A) 2.53%

(A} Total return is caleulated based on the change in the NAV during the vear and assuming
that all dividends are reinvested. Expense ratio and net investment income ratio are caloulated
based on the average Met Assets outstanding throughout the vear. The financial highlights are
reflected after all investment-related and operating expenses.

(B} Results may vary basad on the timing of capital transactions. Per unit information is
caleulated based upon the monthly average umits outstanding during the vear,

The aceompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2021

1. Description of the Trust

Australian High Dividend Equity Fund (the “Fund™) is a series trust of Offshore Strategy Fund
(the “Trust™, an open-ended unit trust established by a master trust deed dated July 29, 2016
{the “Master Trust Deed™), under the laws of the Cayman Islands. The Fund was constituted by
a supplemental trust deed (the “Supplemental Trust Deed™) dated July 29, 2016, under the laws
of the Cayman Islands. The Fund commenced operations on September 28, 2016,

Pursuant to a merger between Legg Mason Asset Management (Japan) Co., Ltd and Franklin
Templeton Investments Japan Limited on April 1, 2021, Franklin Templeton Investments Japan
Limited merged into Legg Mason Asset Management (Japan) Co. Ltd as the surviving
company (the “Merger™). Following the Merger, Legg Mason Asset Management (Japan) Co.,
Ltd. changed its name to Franklin Templeton Japan Co., Ltd (the “Investment Manager™). The
Fund’s assets are managed on a day-to-day basis by the Investment Manager. The Investment
Manager delegates sub-investment management duties to Legg Mason Asset Management
Australia Limited (the “Sub-Investment Manager™). International Management Services Litd.
(the “Manager™) serves as the Fund’s Manager. SMT Fund Services (Ireland) Limited (the
“Administrator™) serves as the Fund’s Administrator,

The investment objective of the Fund is to seck to obtain income gain and medium to long-term
capital appreciation by investing mainly in stocks and REITs that are listed on an exchange in
Australia. The Fund will put emphasis on income levels and will seleet securities that pay
relatively high dividends. The Fund will invest in securifies that are listed on an exchange,
including REITs and other exchange-traded vehicles. The Fund will pay attention to liquidity
and will seek to build a liguid portfolio,

Under the terms of the Supplemental Trust Deed and the Master Trust Deed, G A.S. (Cayman)
Limited (the “Trustee™ is named as Trastee of the Fund.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Preparation

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (*U.8. GAAP™), The preparation
of financial statements in accordance with U5, GAAP requires the Fund’s management to make
estimates and assumpfions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting vear. Actual results, including
the ultimate amount realized upon the sale of fair valued investments, could differ from those
estimates and such differences may be sigrficant,

The Fund is an investment company and accordingly follows the Investment Company

accounting and reporting guidance of the Financial Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC™)
946, Financial Services-Investment Companies.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2021
(Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

The following is a summary of sigmficant accounting policies followed by the Fund in
prepanng the financial statements;

Valuation of Investments
The following valuation pelicy is applied in determination of the wvalue of the Fund's
investments:

Securities listed on an exchange and which are freely transferable are valued at their last sales
price on such exchange on the date of determination, or if no sales occwrred on such day, at the
“hid” price at the close of business on such day. Securities traded over the counter which are
freely transferable shall be valued at the last sales price on the date of determination, or if no
sales ocourred on such day, at the “id™ price at the close of business on such day. In the event
the Fund acquires securities or other financial instruments for which market quotations are not
available, such securities will be valued at their fair value as determined by the Fund. At June
30, 2021, no fair values of investments were determinad by the Fund in the absence of quoted
prices.

Investment Transactions and Investment Income/Expense

Investment transactions are accounted for on a trade-date basis {date the order to buy or sell is
executed), Gains and losses on the sale of investments are determined using the firstin first out
cost method,

Interest income/expense on investments held/sold is acerued as eamed/incurred. Interest earned
on the Fund’s brokerage account, ifany, will be accrued monthly.

Dividend income 15 recorded gross of any non-reclaimable withholding taxes suffered on an
ex-dividend date basis.

Expenses
Expenses are recorded on an aceruals basis as incurred.

Foreign Currency Translation

Although having not done so during the year ended June 30, 2021, assets and habilities may be
held in currencies other than AUD (the “Functional Cwrency™) and are translated to the
Functional Currency at the rate of exchange prevailing at the financial statement date. Incoms
and expenses are translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the date on which the income
or expense is incurred. Realized and wnrealized gains and losses arising on forzign cwrrency
transactions are included in the Statement of Operations in the period in which they oceur.

The Fund does not isolate that portion of the results of operations resulting from changes in
foreign exchange rates on investments from the fluctuations arising from changes in market
prices of secunties held. Such fluctuations are included with the net realized and wnrealized
gain or loss from investments.
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AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2021
{ Continmad)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash

The Trustee has appointed Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited (London Branch) as its
custodian (the “Custodian™). Sumitomo Mitsud Trust Bank, Limated { London Branch), has in
turn, appointed Brown Brothers Hardman & Co. (“BBH™) as its sub-custodian. Cash comprise
cash with original maturities of 3 months or less held at BEH.

Taxation

Under the current laws of the Cayiman Islands, there are no income, withholding, capital gains
or other taxes payvable by the Fund. In certain jurisdictions other than the Cayvman Islands,
foreign taxes may be withheld at source on dividends and interest received by the Fund. Capital
gains derived by the Fund in such jurisdictions generally will be exempt from foreign income
or withholding taxes at source, Capital gains tax may be suffered by non-residents, such as the
Fund on the disposal of holdings in foreign jurisdictions. In certain jurisdictions, these capital
gains taxes are required to be determined on a self-assessment basis and, therefore, such taxes
may not be deducted at source by the Fund’s brokers on a “withholding™ basis. The non-resident
investors may be obligated to remit the tax on their own The Fund intends to conduet its affairs
such that 1t will not be subject to income tax in any Junsdiction. As a result, no provision for
income taxes has been made in the financial statements. Unitholders may be taxed on their
proportionate share of the Fund’s tax basis income based on their individual circumstances.

The Fund follows the authoritative suidance on accounting for and disclosure of uncertainty in
tax positions (Financial Accounting Standards Board ASC 740), which requires management
to determine whether a tax position of the Fund is more likely than not to be sustained upon
examination by the applicable taxing authority, including resolution of any related appeals or
litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position.

For tax positions meeting the more likely than not threshold, the tax benefit recognized on the
financial statements is reduced by the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent
likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the relevant taxing authority. The
Investment Manager has determined that there is no effect on the financial statements being
under this authoritative guidance.

Guarantees and/or Indemnifications

In the nommal course of business the Trustee and/or Manager, on behalf of the Fund, enters into
contracts that contain a variety of representations, which provide general indemmnifications. The
Fund’s maximum exposure under these arrangements 15 unknown, as this would involve future
claims that may be made against the Fund that have not yet occurred.
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June 30, 2021
{ Continmad)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

ASC 480

ASC 480, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of Both Liabilities
and Equity™, recognizes redemptions as labilities, when the amount and number of units
requested in the redemption notice beeomes fixed This generally may oceur at the Hme of the
receipt of the notice, or on the last day of a fiscal period, depending on the nature of the request.
Redemptions payable may be treated as capital for purposes of allocations of gains/(losses)
pursuant to the Fund’s goveming documents. As at Junz 30, 2021, there were redemptions
pavable of AUD728.403.

J. Fair Value Measuremenis and Disclosures

ABC 820, “Farr Value Measurements and Disclosures™, prowvides addiional gindance for
estimating fair value in accordance with ASC 820 when the velume and level of activity for the
asset or liability have significantly decreased and provides guidance onidentifying cireumstances
that indicate a transaction is not orderly. ASC B20 establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the
highest pnonty to unadjusted listed prices in active markets for identical assets or hiabilities
(Level | measurements) and the lowest pricrity to uncbservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820 are as follows:

- Level 1 = Inputs that reflect unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Fund has the ability to access at the measurement date;

- Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability either
direetly or indirectly, including inputs in markets that are not considered to be active,

- Level 3 - Inputs that are unobservable.

Inputs are used in applying the varnous valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions
that market participants use to make valuation decisions, including assumptions about risk. A
financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy 1s based on the lowest level of any
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Investment Manager considers
observable data to be that market data which is readily available, regularly distributed or updated,
reliable and venfiable, not propnetary and provided by independent sources that are actively
involved in the relevant market. The categorization of a financial instrument within the hierarchy
15 based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not necessanly comrespond to
the Investment Manager's perceived risk of that instrument.

Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets are classified
within Level 1.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active, but are valued based on
quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by observable
inputs are classified within Level 2. As Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded
in active markets and'or are subject to transfer restrichions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect
illiquidity and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available market information.

17

119/204



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2021
{Continued)

3. Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (continued)

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade
infrecquently or not at all.

The following table presents the investment in the Fund carried on the Staterment of Assets and
Liabilities by level within the valuation hierarchy as of June 30, 2021:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Assely AUD AUD AUD AUD
Equities 96,477,529 - - 96,477,529
Total 96,477,529 - = 96,477,529

There were no transfers between the levels during the vear,

4. Unit Capital
Class AUD
Units
Mumber of units outstanding at July 1, 2020 1,273,9a2
Umnits issued dunng the vear 340,173
Units redeemed during the vear (657.021)
Number of units outstanding at June 30, 2021 957,114

One unitholder holds all of the Units attributable to Class AUD Units.

The Units are denominated in AUD. Additional classes of Units may be offered in the future.
Class AUD Units are available to an eligible investor who is any person, corporation or entity
which is not (i) a citizen or resident of the US, a partnership organized or existing in the US,
or any corporation, trust or other enfity organized under the laws of or existing in the US; (i1}
resident or domiciled in the Cayman Islands (excluding any object of a charitable trust or
power or an exempted or non-resident Caviman [slands company?); (111} unable to subscribe for
or hold Units without violating applicable laws, or (iv) a ¢custodian, nomines, or trustee for
any person, corporation or entity deseribed in (i) to (111} above,

The Manager may determine to issue one or more classes of Units of the Fund without prior
notice to or written consent of the unitholders.

Class AUD Units were first issued at an intial issue price of AUDI00 per Unit. The minimum

subscription amount per subscnber in respect of each class of umt is ten units, and
subscnptions for more than ten Units may only be made in one Unit increments.

120/204



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2021
{ Continmad)

4. Unit Capital (continued)

For subsequent subscriptions by existing unithelders, the purchase price per umt wall be the
MNAV per Unit of the relevant ¢lass of units on the valuation day falling on the relevant
subscription day and rounded maturally to two decimal places.

The subscription day for the Fund shall be each business day and'or such other day or days that
the Manager may from time to time determine in respeet of the Fund.

Units may be submitted for repurchase at the option of unitholders (i) in the case of the
unitholder who is requesting units to be repurchased in their capacity as a distributer appointed
by the Manager, by nolater than 7.00pm (Tokyo fime) on the relevant repurchase day, provided
that such repurchase request relates solely to wmts in respect of which the unitholder (being the
relevant distnibutor) has received a corresponding repurchase request prior to 2.00pm (Tokyo
time) on the same day; or {ii) in the case of a unitholder requesting units to be repurchased
directly {and not as a distnbutor appointed by the Manager), prior to 2.00pm {Tekyo time) on
the relevant repurchase day; or, in either case, such other time as the Trustee and the Manager,
after consultation with the Admimstrator, may in any parficular case determine,

The repurchase day for the Fund shall be each business day and/or such other day or davs that
the Manager may from time to time determine in respect of the Fund

Atany time and for any reason, the Manager may, by giving five business days’ notice to all or
amny affected unitholders, repurchase units of the Fund at the applicable repurchase price.

The MNAV per Unit is calculated by dividing the difference in value between the Fund's assets
and liabilities (including accrued fees and expenses of the Fund) by the number of Class AUD
Units outstanding.

The Manager may declare and amrange for the payment of distributions in respect of any class
of units of such amount (if any) as shall be determined by the Manager, after consultation with
the Investment Manager, and approved by the Trustee, which may be paid out of the income
and capital atimibutable to the relevant class of umits,

The ex-distribution date will be the next business dav after the last business day of June every
vear and/or such other date or dates as the Manager may determine (the “Distribution Record
Drate™).

The first Distribution Record Date of the yvear was on the last business day of June 2020, There
is no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such amounts,
Dividends of AUD3,911,063 (with an ex-dividend date of July 1, 2020) were paid on July 6,
2020.

The second Distribution Record Date of the vear was on the last business day of June 2021,
There is no guarantee that any future distributions will be paid or if paid, will be paid in such
amounts, Dividends of AUD4, 345 298 (with an ex-dividend date of July 1, 2021} were paid on
July 6, 2021.
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(Continued)

5. Related Party Transactions

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.
There were no transactions with related parties other than those in the nommal course of
business. The Manager, Trustee and related companies (a company that controls or is
controlled by the Manager or the Trustee, often one that is in the same business group) are
deemed to be related to the Fund Fees incurred with related parties during the year are
disclosed in the Statement of Operations. Amounts payable to related parties at the year end
are disclosed in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities.

SMBC Nikko Securities Inc., holds 100% of all units inissue, Asaresult, anyv actions of SMBC
Mikko Securities Inc., can materially impact the Fund.

6. Fees and Expenses

Administration Fees
The Administrator receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.06% per anmum of the
MAV, accrued and caleulated as of each valuation day and pavable monthly in arrears.

The Administrator 15 also entitled to: (a) an establishment fee of USE5.000: (b an annual fze
of USE5,000 in connection with provision of assistance in connection to the preparation of the
financial statements of the Fund; {¢) an annual fee of US%1,000 in connection with filing the
audited aceounts of the Fund with the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority, and (d) an annual
fee of USS500 in connection with facilitating the Manager or its delegate in the preparation of
certain reports and/or statements required for Japanese regulatory purposes.

Manager Fees
The Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears,

Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.73% per annum of
the NAV, accrued and ecaleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Sub-Investment Manager Fees
The Investment Manager pays a fee to the Sub-Investment Manager out of the fee received by
the Investment Manager.

However, all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Sub-Investment Manager in
performance of its duties in relation to the Fund will be pavable out of the Fund.

Trustee Fees
The Trustee receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.02% per annum of the NAV,
accrued and caleulated as of each valuation day and payable monthly in arrears.
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6. Fees and Expenses (continued)

Distributor Fees
The Distributor receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.70% per annum of the NAY,
acerned and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears,

Agent Company Fees
The Agent Company receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.10% per annum of the
MAV, accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid quarterly in arrears.

Custodian Fees
The Custodian receives out of the assets of the Fund, a fee of 0.025% per anmum of the NAY,
accrued and caleulated on each valuation day and paid monthly in arrears,

The fees payvable as at Jung 30, 2021 are as follows;

AUD

Administration fees 11,505
Manager fees 2,088
Investment Manager fees 187,724
Andit faes 40,395
Trustee fees 1,670
Distributor feas 180,010
Transaction fees 16,051
Agent Company fees 25,716
Custodian fees 11,121
Other fees and expenses 46,097
522,377

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks

The Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price sk
and eurrency risk), credit nsk and liquidity risk.

Market Risk

All investments present a nisk of loss of capital. The Investment Manager moderates this nsk
through a careful selection of investments. The Fund's investment management process is
described in Mote 1. The primary element of the Fund’s objective is to seek to achieve income
gain and capital appreciation over the mud to long term based on its investment strategy of
investing in a portfolic of equities and REITs that are listed on an exchange in Australia. The
Fund’s overall market positions are monitored on a daily basis by the Investment Manager.

In a falling market environment, the value of the equities held by the Fund may decline, and
as a result, the NAV may decline below its initial principal amount. Also, adverse

developments in an issuer’s economic conditions or such negative events as bankruptey may
cause the value of the equities to deeling substantially and may sigrificantly impact the NAV.

21

123/204



EDINETOOOO
o = 2573
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AUSTRALIAN HIGH DIVIDEND EQUITY FUND
A SERIES TRUST OF OFFSHORE STRATEGY FUND

Notes to the Financial Statements

June 30, 2021
{ Continmad)

7. Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)

Currency Risk

Curreney risk is the risk that as certain assets of the Fund may be invested in securities and
other investments denominated in forzign curmrencies, the value of such assets may be affected
favourably or unfavourably by fluctuations in currency rates.

Although having not done so during the year ended June 30, 2021, the Fund may enter into
forward foreign currency exchange confracts and hold mongtary and non-moenetary assets and
incur monetary and non-monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than AUD. It may
therefore be exposed to currency risk, as the value of the assets and liabilities denominated in
other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rates. The Fund may also enter into
currency hedging transactions from time to tme in order to limit its exposure to currency risk,

If investing in the securities of companies that are denominated in non-AUD currencies, the
Fund may be exposed to risks that the exchange rate of AUD relative to other currencies may
change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the reported value of those secunities,

Credit Risk
Cradit risk represents the potential loss that the Fund would incur if the counterparties failed
to perform pursuant to the terms of their obligations to the Fund.

Although the Trustee monitors the Custodian and believes it to be an appropriate custodian,
there is no guarantee that this or any custodian that the Fund may use from time to time, will
not become insolvent, the result of which could lead to losses for the Fund.

While there are codes and acts to protect customer property in the event of a failure, insolvency
or liquidation of an institution, there 1s no certainty that, in the event of a failure of an institution
that has custody of Fund assets, the Fund would not ineur losses due to its assets being
unavailable for a period of ime, ultimately less than full recovery of its assets, or both, Because
all of the Fund's cash is in custody with a single institution, such losses could be significant
and could materially impair the ability of the Fund to achieve its investment objective. The
Fund is subject to credit risk to the extent that this institution may be unable to fulfill its
obligations to repay amounts owed.

Liquidity Risk
Investors should be aware that the value of units might fall as well as rise. Investment in the
Fund involves a degree of nisk; there can be no assurance that the Fund’s investment objective
will be achieved.

The Fund is exposed to daily repurchase of its units but management believes that the Fund
has sufficient resources to meet the present and foreseeable needs of its business operations
and, if necessary, the liquidity to fund repurchases and achieve a market position appropriately
reflecting a smaller capital base. This position 15 monitored continually by management to
ensure that the Fund has the ability to meet its obligations.
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Off Balance Sheet Risks and Concentration of Risks (continued)

Liquidity Risk (continued)

The Manager, after consultation with the Investment Manager, may declars a suspension of
the repurchase of units in certain circumstances as described in the section of the Offering
Memorandum headed “Valuations - Suspension of Issues, Repurchases and Caleulation of Net
Asset Value™,

COVID-19 Risk

During the vear, a viral Covid-19 pandemic has continued to spread across the globe. It is
causing very significant financial market, economic and social dislocation globally, including
very significant disruption to business and economic activity, The economic disruption may
significantly reduce the value of many financial instruments including those held by the Fund.
The ultimate extent of the effect of this on the Fund 15 not possible to estimate at this time and
will only be finally determined on realization of investments.

Commitments and Contingencies

Asat June 30, 2021, the Fund had no commitments or contingencies.

Recent Pronouncerents

Accounting Standards Update (“ASU™") 2020-04 - Reference Rate Reform, is a new
pronouncement that occurred during the vear, and is not materially applicable to this Fund.

Subsequent Events

Management performed a subsequent events review up to December 1, 2021, which is the date
the financial statements were available to be 1ssued.

Effective July 1, 2021 through to December 1, 2021 investors subscribed AUD1 635,064 into
the Fund and investors redeemed AUD 16,469 903 from the Fund.

As at the date the financial statements were available to be issued. uncertainty still remains
around the length of the disruption of COVID-19 and the impact on global markets.

Management concluded that there were no other subsequent events which required additional
disclosure in these financial statements.

The financial statements were approved on December 1, 2021,
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2022 10
54,416,438.20 5,172,282,451
207,316.57 19,705,440
54,209,121.63 5,152,577,011
598,001
90.65 8,616
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
2021 2020
2,530,732 375,206 2,058,710 305,224
4 585,703 86,836 600,748 89,067
293,705 43,545 186,744 27,687
9 150,428 22,302 272,903 40,461
3,560,568 527,890 3,119,105 462,439
5 255,475 37,877 268,248 39,770
255,475 37,877 268,248 39,770
3,816,043 565,767 3,387,353 502,209
18,662 2,767 52,054 7,718
931,237 138,065 747,805 110,870
831,521 123,281 690,915 102,435
1,384,623 205,284 1,246,579 184,818
3,166,043 469,398 2,737,353 405,840
6 50,000 7,413 50,000 7,413
600,000 88,956 600,000 88,956
650,000 96,369 650,000 96,369
3,816,043 565,767 3,387,353 502,209

2022 30
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2021

2020

8,414,155 1,247,483 8,971,
4 3,688 547 (66,

680 1,330,141
854) (9,912)

8,417,843 1,248,029 8,904,

826 1,320,230

973,002 144,257 539,448 79,979
56,951 8,444 52,721 7,816

7,8,9  (6,638,466)  (984,219) (6,747,334) (1,000,360)
2,809,330 416,511 2,749,661 407,665

2,809,330 416,511 2,749,661 407,665
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
2019 12 31 50,000 7,413 600,000 88,956 650,000 96,369
2,749,661 407,665 2,749,661 407,665
(2,749,661)  (407,665) (2,749,661)  (407,665)
2020 12 31 50,000 7,413 600,000 88,956 650,000 96,369
2,809,330 416,511 2,809,330 416,511
(2,809,330)  (416,511) (2,809,330) (416,511)
2021 12 31 50,000 7,413 600,000 88,956 650,000 96,369
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2021 12 31 2020 12 31
2021 2020

2,809,330 416,511 2,749,661 407,665
22,042 3,268 27,519 4,080
15,045 2,231 313,905 46,540
(106,961)  (15,858)  (49,012) (7,267)
122,475 18,158  (179,809)  (26,658)
(29,203) (4,330)  (85,170)  (12,627)
183,432 27,196 38,365 5,688
140,606 20,846 200,697 29,755
3,156,766 468,022 3,016,156 447,175
(9,269) (1,374) (3,264) (484)
(9,269) (1,374) (3,264) (484)
(2,675,475)  (396,666) (2,316,333)  (343,420)
(2.675,475)  (396,666) (2,316,333)  (343,420)
472,022 69,982 696,559 103,272
2,058,710 305,224 1,362,151 201,953
2,530,732 375,206 2,058,710 305,224
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1974
30 2021
1985 12 12 2021
1988 13 2010 2021
1994 27
2021 12
2004 2021
2006 12 28
IMS
KY1-1102
61
2021 12 31 24 2020 25
1ASB

IFRS
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SH 2001 20
A.S. * 1978 27
N.D. - 1978 27
N.S. : 1978 27

- 1979 10 26
NS * 2012 27
INS 2013 25
" 2021 2020 12 31

90 180
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30

2021 2020
0 30 286,150 90,065
31 60 11,139 27,898
61 90 17,331 25,623
91 271,083 457,162
585,703 600,748

2021 2020
923,737 974,965
(338,034) (374,217)
585,703 600,748
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2021 2020
374,217 316,991
(3,688) 66,854
88,121
(32,495) (97,769)
338,034 374,217
2021
341,637 396, 854 239,816 156,891 1,135,198
9,269 9,269
341,637 406,123 239,816 156,891 1,144,467
189,578 385,870 188,884 102,618 866,950
3,894 6,746 5,536 5,866 22,042
193,472 392,616 194,420 108,484 888,992
2021 12 31
148,165 13,507 45,396 48,407 255,475
2020
341,637 393,590 239,816 156,891 1,131,934
3,264 3,264
341,637 396, 854 239,816 156,891 1,135,198
185,889 373,774 181,491 98,219 839,373
3,689 12,096 7,393 4,399 27,577
189,578 385,870 188,884 102,618 866,950
2020 12 31

152,059 10,984 50,932 54,273 268,248
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2021 2020
80,000 96,000 96,000
41,667 2020 41,667 50,000 50,000

2022
18,410
18,776 19,151

2021 2020

220,920 128,870
455,124

676,044 128,870

2021 12 31

61,994 2020 83,391
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2021 12 31
2021 2020
563,349 475,349
IMS 141,859 125,414
2021 2020
150,428 272,903
2021 12 31 3,929,626 2020
4,233,086 63,945 2020 63,289
10
2021 12 31
2020
11 CovID-19
2020 11 COVID-19
COVID-19
12
IFRS 16
IFRS 16

IFRS 16
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2020
756,361
(756,361)
760,550
4,189
(760,550)
4,189
2020 2020
2,749,661 2,749,661
237,971 27,519
(210,452)

13

2022
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidazed Statements of Financial Position

December 31. 2021 and 2020
fsrared in Uiited States doliars)

Nole 2021 2020
(restated)
Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2.3530.732 2.058.710
Accounts receivable 4 585,703 600,748
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 293.705 186.744
Due from affiliated companies 9 150.428 272.903
3,560,568 2.119.105
MNoo-current assets
Property. plant and equipment 3 235473 268.248
255475 268.248
Total assets USS 3.816.043 3.387.353
Liabilities and shareholder’s equity
Cuarrent linbilities
Accounts pavable and accrued expenses 18.662 S054
Uneamed income and pavable to clients 931.237 747805
Staff bomuses payable 831.521 690915
Dividends payable 1.384.623 1.246.579
3.166.043 2737353
Shareholder’s equity
Share capital 6 50.000 50.000
Retained eamings £00.000 GO0.000
650.000 650.000
Taotal liabilities and shareholder”s equity USsS  3.816.043 3.387.353

See accomparyving notes to consolidated financial statements.

Approved on behalf of the Board on March 30, 2022

Paul Harris
Diirector
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

For the vears ended December 31. 2021 and 2020
(staied in United States dollars)

More 2021 2020
(restatad)
Income
Revenus 2.414:155 2.971.680
Bad debts recovered (written off) 4 3.688 (66.354)
8.417.843 5.904.826
Expenses
Other income 073.002 539,448
Rentz] income 56951 52,721
Adminisiration expenses 7.8.9 (6.638.466) (6.747.334)
1809330 2.7458.661
Net income ss 2809330 27496561

e arcompaming notes o consolidated Shanclal statements.
FP o [ J
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Sharcholder’s Equity

For the vears ended December 31. 2021 and 2020

fstared in United Siares dallars)

Ooooooooooooooooooad

Share Remained

capital gamings Toral
Balance at December 31. 2019 50,000 600.000 550,000
Net income - 2749661  2.749.661
Dividends declared - (2.749.661) (2.749.661)
Balance at December 31, 2020 20.000 600.000 &30.000
Net income - 2809330 2809330
Drividends declared {2.809.330) (2.809.330)
Balance at December 31, 2021 uss 30,000 G00.000 650,000

See accompanying nores ro consolideted finaicial statements.

h
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
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2021 2020
(restated)
Operating activities
Net income 2.809.320 2.749.661
Adjusmments for non-cash items:
Depreciaton 22.042 27.51%
Adjustments 1o reconcile net income 1o cash provided by
operations:
Accounts receivable 15045 313.505
Other receivables and prepaid expenses (106.961) (49.012)
Due from affiliated companies 122475 (179.809)
Accoums pavable and accrued expenses (29.203) (85,170)
Unearned incomne and payable to clisnts 183432 38.365
Stall bomses payable 140.606 200.697
Net cash provided by operating activities 3.156.766 3.016.516
Investing activities
Purchase of fixed asseis (9.2 5‘-)} {3.264)
Loss on disposal of assets =
Wet cash used in investing activities (9.269) {3.264)
Financing activities
Dividends paid (2.675.475) {2.316.333)
Net cash nsed in financing activities (2.675.475) {2316.333)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents during year 472022 GR5.359
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year 2.058.710 1.362.151
Cash and cash equivalents end of vear Uss 2.530.732 2.038.7T10

See acconipaiving notes fe consolidaied financial statements.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Naotas 1o Consclidated Fmancial Statements

December 31. 2021 and 2020
(srated in United States doilars)

1. Incorporation and backeround information

International Management Services Lid. (the “Company™) was incorporated under the Companies
Law (2021 Revision) of the Cavman Islands on Ausust 30. 1974 and provides company and
insurance management and corporate secretarial services. On Decamber 12. 1985, the Company
was licensed under Section 4 (5) of the Companies Management Act (2021 Revision) to carry on
the business of company management in or within the Cayman Islands. On May 13. 1988, the
Company was licensed under Section 4 (2) of The Insurance Act 2010 (2021 Revision). 1o carry on
the business of insurance management in or within the Cavinan Islands. On July 27. 1994, the
Company was licensed under Section 12 of The Murual Funds Act (2021 Revision) to carry on the
business of murval fimd adwinistration. On June 7. 2004 the Company was Licensed under the Banks
and Trust Companies Act (2021 Revision). to carry on frust business from within the Cayman
Tslands. On December 28. 2006. the Company surrenderad its Companies Management Licence.

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of The TMS Group Lid.. a company also incorporated
in the Cayman Islands.

The financial resulis of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries (the “Group™) are
consolidated at year end to form the Group.

The registered office of the Company is 3% Floor Harbour Centre, George Town. P.O. Box 61. Grand
Cayman XY1-1102. Cayman Islands.

The Group had 24 employees as at December 31, 2021 (2020: 25).

2. DBasis of presentation
(&) Starement of compliaince

This is the first ser of financial sterements prepared by the Group in accordance with the
‘International Financial Reporting Standards for Small and Medium-sized Entities (“TFRS for
SMEs™)" issued by the Internationz] Accounting Standards Board ("IASB7). The principal
accoumting policics applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are sci
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented. unaless
otherwise stated.

Management has made an assessment of the Group's ability 1o continue as a going concern and
is satisfied that the Group has the resources 1o confinue in business for the foreseeable furure.
Furthermore, management is not aware of any marterial uncertainties that may cast a significant
doubt upon the Group's ability ro contime as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated
financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis.

by Basis of measnrement

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost.
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Motes 1o Consolidared Financial Statements {continued)

December 21. 2021 and 2020
ferared in United Srares dollars)

2, Basis of presentation (continued)
(¢} Funetional and preseniation currency

The Group's functional and presentation currency is the United States dellar ("USS™) and not
the local currency of the Cayman Islands reflecting the fact that the Group’s operations are
primarily conducted in United States dollars.

(d) Use of estimares and judgemenis

The preparation of consolidated financial sratements in accordance with TFRS for SMEs requires
management to make judgements. estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and lisbilities and disclosure of
confingent assets and liabilitics at the dare of the consclidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of income and expenses during the year. Acmal results could differ from
those estimates.

fe) Corresponding figures
Certain prior year amounis have been reclassified ro conform to the current year presentation.
() Capiral management

The Group’s rezulator. the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority (the “Authority™), sets and
monitors capital requirements for the Group wmder the Monetary Authority Law (2021
Revision). the Companies Management Law (2020 Revision). the Insurance Law, 2010, the
Murual Funds Law (2021 Revision) and the Bapk and Trust Companies Law (2021 Revision).
The Group is required to have a minimum net worth of C1$400.000 (USS500.000) and has a 3
month filing deadline after vear end dare. The Group's policy is to maintain a strong capital base
to sustain furmre development of the business. The Group has complied with all imposed capiral
requircments throughowt the year. and there were no material changes fo the Group's
management of capital during the year.

(g) New Stendards effective for annual period beginning 1 January 2021

There zre no new standards or amendments effective for anmual periods beginning 1Januvary
2021 that will have a significant impact 1o the Group.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Noles to Conselidated Financial Statements {continucd)

Decemtber 31, 2021 and 2020
fstated in Unfied States dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently 1o all periods presented in
these consolidated financial statements. There have been no changes to accomnting policies. The
significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are as follows:

fa) Consolidated wholly ovwned subsidiaries

Company Business Date of incorporation/addition
SH Corporate Services Lrd Registered Office Services Apnl 20, 2001
A S, Nominees Lid. * Nominee Company Jamuary 27, 1978
N.D. Nominee Lid. * Nominee Company Janaary 27. 1978
N.S. Nominee Ltd.* Nominee Company January 27, 1978
Cardinal Nominee Limited* Nominee Company October 26, 1979
IMS Trustees Ltd * Trustee Services April 27, 2012
IMS Liquidations Ltd. Liquidation Serviees Janmary 235. 2013

»  These wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company have been established 1o act only In a
nominee capaciry and have not traded in their own right during the year ended December 31.
2021 and 2020.

All income earned and expenses incurred by these companies are accounted for by the Company
and all inter-company transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidatien. The financial
statements of the subsidiaries are incinded in the consolidated financial statements from the date
thar control commences o the date that control ceases. The Group accounts for business
combinarions using the acquisinon method when control is mansferred to the Group. The
consideration is generally measured at fair value. as arc the identifiable net assets acquired.

b Fingicial assers oud labilities

Financial instruments are initally measured af the wansaction price (this includes transaction
cost except in the inidal measurement of financial assets and liabilinies that will be measured at
fair value throush profit or loss). If. however the amrangement constitutes a financing transaction
it is then measured at the present value of the fiumre pavments. discounted at a market related
interest rate.
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consclidated Financial Statemnents (continued)

December 31, 2021 and 2020
(stated fn United States dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
fe) Accounis recenabies

Accounts receivables represent mmounts duoe from clients and related parties for services
performed in the nenmnal course of business. Most sales are made on the basis of normal credir
tenns. and the receivables do not bear interest. Where credit is extended beyond nommal credit
Terms, raceivables are measured at amontised cost using the effective interest method. Other
receivables are considered past due after S0 10 180 days. At the end of each reperting peried.
the carrying amounts of accounts receivable are reviewed to determine whether there is any
objective evidence that the amounts are not recoverable. If so. an impainuent loss is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

{d}) Revenne Recognition

The Group recognises revenne in the amount expected o be received for services supplied at a
point in Tme Of over time as contractual perfonnance obligations are fulfilled and control of
services passes to the customer.

Where the contractual performance obligations are satsfied over time and revenne is recognised
over fime.

Where performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time. revenue is recognised when the
risks and rewards of ownership have wansferred to the customer. This is a1 the point where the
service is delivered to the customer and there are no ymfulfilled obligations that could affect the
custemer’s acceptance of the service.

Namire of services
The following is a descripticn of the principal activities from which the Group generates its
[EVenue.

(i) Professionai services

Fees generated from a range of professional services including directorship services.
captive insurance management services. trustee services and anti-mouey laundering
SETVICES.

(i) Menagement fee from related party

Fees generated from the provision of admindstration services to a related party.
fiti) Registered affice services

Fees generated from the provision of registered office services.

10
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.

Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021
fstated in United States dellars)

3. Significant acconnting poelicies (continued)
iel) Revenue Recognition fcontinmied)
Perfonnance obligations and revenue recognition policies

The Group recognizes revenue fom the provision of fiduciary and registered office services 1o
client companies. The specific services required involve the provision of a director to act in his
fiduciary capacity for client companies as well as the provision of a clicnt company registered
office for a set annual fee. In addition. as parr of the contractual terms, clicnt companies zlso
require corporate services throughout the financial year on the basis of fees specified in the
contract.

(e} Foreign cinrrency

Assers and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are manslated art rates of
exchange prevailing at the consolidated statements of financial position dare. Transactons in
foreign currencies are iranslated at the rates of exchange ruling on the date of the transaction.
Any resulting exchange gains or losses are cradited or debited to the conselidated statement of
comprehensive income.

{1 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is comprised of current bank accounts held with financial institutions
with original terms to maturity of three months or less.

(g) Froperty, plant and equipment

Property. plant and equipment arc staled at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accrummilated impaimment loss.

Depreciation is recognised in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income after taking
into account residual values over the following expecred useful lives of the assets using the

respective methods:
Office building 2.5% p.a. Reducing Balance
Computer equipment 20% pa  Straight Line Method
Fumiture and equipment 10% pa. Reducing Balance
Leaschold improvements 10% pa. Reducing Balance

The carrying amount of property, plant and cquipment is reviewed at each reporting date 10

detenmine whether there is any indication of impainnent. Impainment losses are recognised in

the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the year in which they are idemtificd.
{k} Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the remms of the lease transfer substanrially all

the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified

as operating leases.

11
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements (contimued)

December 31. 2021
(siated in United States dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(i) Incone recognition and fees billed in advance

Management fees are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income over
the periad for which services are provided.

Uncamed income and payable to clients comprise funds received from clients as prepayments
for services to be performed in future years.

fi) Expenses

Expensss are recogmsed in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income on the accrual
basis.

(%) FEmplavee benefiis
(iy  Defined conmiburion pension plan

The Group participates in 2 defined contribution plan. A defined contribution plan is a
post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pavs fived contributions into a
separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation if the plan does not hold
sufficient assers to pay all employee benefits relating 1o cmployee service in the current
and prior periods. Obligations for contributions 1o defined conmibution pension plans are
recognised as an expense in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income as

fii}  Shorr-rerm benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amoumt
cxpected 10 be paid mnder short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has
a present lezal or consouctive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service
provided by the emplovee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

h Asseis wnder administranion

In the normal cowrse of business. the Group provides fiduciary services Ly acling as trustee of
Trusts. The assets and liabilities of the Trusts under the Group's management are not incorporated
in these consolidated fmancial statements.

4. Accounts Receivable

The nature of the Group's exposure to credit risk and its objectives. policies. and processes for
managing credit risk have not changed significanily from the prior year. The Group’s maximum
exposure 1o credit risk is the carrying value of its financial assets. The Group establishes an
allowance for bad and doubtfil accounts that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of
accounts receivable.
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4. Accounts Receivable (continued)

The Group manages credit risk in respect of acconnts receivables by perfonning periodic reviews
of outstanding customer balances. Manzgement does not expect any significant counterparties 1o
fail to meet their obligations. Management believes that unimpaired amounts that are past dus more

than 30 days are still collectible in finll,
The Groumy's aging of accounts receivables at the reporting date was:

2021 2020
0 10 30 days 256.150 20.065
31w G0 days 11.139 27.858
&1 1o 50 days 17.351 25,623
More than 91 days 271.083 457.162
Uss 585,703 600,748
The Group’s accounts receivables at the reporting date were:
2021 2020
Gross accounis receivable 923.737 974.565
Provision for doubtful accounts (538.034) (374.217)
USS  585.703 600,748
Movements in the provision for doubtful accounts during the vear are as follows:
2021 2020
Ealance at beginning of year 374217 316991
Charge to statément of comprehensive income [5.688) 66.854
Recoveries of doubtful debts - 88121
Bad debts {recovered) / written off {32.495) {97,769)
LSS 338.034 374217
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Motes 1o Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Deccnber 31. 2021
(stated in United States dollars)

5. Property, plant and equipment

Office  Computer Furniture & Leasehold
2021 building equipment equipment  UNPrOVemMEnts Teral
Cost:
Balance at beginning 341.657 396.854 239.816 156891  1.135.198
of vear
Additions - 9.269 - - 9.269
Balance ar end of vear 341.637 406123 239.816 156.691 1.144.467
Accunmlated depreciation:
Balance at beginning 189.578 3B5.870 188.884 102618 266.950
of year
Charge for year 3.894 3,746 5.336 5.866 21042
Balanec at end of vear 193 472 392616 194.420 108.484 888.992
Met book value at
December 31, 2021 USS 148,165 15.507 43,396 48407 235,475
Office  Computer Furniture & Leaschold
2020 building equipment equipment  IMprovemenis Total
Cost:
Balance at beginning 341.637 393.590 239.516 156,891  1.151.934
of year
Additiens = 204 - - 3.264
Balance at end of year 341.637 396.854 239.816 156.891  1.135.198
Accummlated depreciation:
Balance at beginning 183,889 373.714 181.451 98.219 539.375
of year
Charge for vear 3.689 12.096 7.393 4.359 27.577
Balance at end of vear 189.578 385,370 188,884 102 618 866.950
Met book valne at
December 31,2020 USS 152.059 10.984 50,932 34.273 268.248
14
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Starements (continued}

December 31, 2021
(stared i Uinited Stares dollars)

6. Share capital

2021 2020
Authorised:
80.000 shares of CIS1 each Uss 96.000 26.000
Issuzd and fully paid:
41.667 shares (2020 : 41.667) Uss 50.000 50.000
7. Leases

The Group has 2 lcase for its operating premises, a floor of an office building. The Group classities
this lease as an operating lease. the lease is for a period of 3 years commencing 1 January 2022, The
rent payable under the lease is 518.410 per month for the period of the lease for the first year.
S$18.776 per month for the sccond year 2nd $ 19.151 per month for the third year of the lease.

The lcase penerally imposes a resiriction thar. nunless there is a contracrual right for the Group 10
sublet the asset to another party. the premises can only be used by the Group. Leases may only be
cancelled by incurring a substantive rermination fee.

The table balow describes the nanre of the Group's leasing activides recozuised on the balance
sheet:

Furure mivimn lease payments

The total of future minimum lease pavments under the lease may be analysed as follows:

2021 2020

{restated)

Less than one year 1310920 123.870
Greater than one vear but less than Sve years 455124 -
Uss 676,044 128.870

15
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMENT SERVICES LTD.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

December 31, 2021
{stated tn Unfted States doilars)

8. Deflined contribution pension plan

The Group participates in the Fidelity Pension Plan. a defined conmibution pension scheme. The
Group is required 1o match each emplovee’s contribution on a one to one basis up 1o 5% of the
employee’s annval salary. During the year ended Deccmber 31. 2021, the Group contributed
US561.994 (2020: USS83.391).

9. Related party transactions

During the year ended December 31. 2021. the Group eamed the following administration and
management fees from its affiliated companies:

2021 2020
Corporate Filing Services Lid. USE 563.349 475,349
IMS Securities Ltd. 141.859 125414
Amommis due from relared affiliates are as follows:

2021 2020
Carporate Filing Scrvices Lid uUss 150.425 272.903

During the year ended December 31, 2021. the Group paid US$3.929,626 (2020: US$4.235.086) in
short-term employment benefits and USS63.945 (2020: USS63.289) in long-term employment
benefits to key management personnel

10. Contingencies

The Group. in its fiduciary capacity. may be a party to litigation and claims in the normal course of
business. In the opinion of the Directors. which is based on the advice of the Group’s legal counsel.
no contingsncy provisions are required at 31 December 2021 (2020 Nil).

11. Considerations of the impact of COYILD-12

On March 11. 2020, the World Health Organization officially declared COVID-19. the disease
caused by the novel coronavirus, a pandemic. The pandemic has developed rapidly durng the
financial year and measures (zken Ly governments internationally has significantly affected
economuc activity. which has had implications for financial reporting. Management has considered
the impact of COVID-19 in relation to expected future performance and furure asset valuations and
has concluded that such impact would not be significant to the operations of the Group

16
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INTERNATIONAL MANAGEMEXNT SERVICESLTD.
Naotes 10 Consolidared Financial Statements (continued)

December 31. 2021
{stated in United States dollars)

12. Impact of change in accounting policy

Following the adopion of IFRS for SMEs (sce Note 2). the Group was required lo resiale certam
balances with respect to the lease amangements (see Note 8) that had previously been reported in
accordance with Intermartional Financial Reporting Standard 16: Leases ("[FRS 167). Previously the
lease was recognised as a Finance Lease under TFRS 16. a Right of Use Asset and comresponding
lease liability was disclosed on the consolidated starements of financial position.

The right-of-usc asset was measored at cost. made up of the initial measurement of the lease liabiliry.
any inital direct costs incrared by the Group and any lease payiuents made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any incentives received).

The Group depreciated the right-of-nse asset on a siraight-line hasis from rhe l2ase commencement
date to the end of the lease term.

IFRS for SME's allows for the lease to be discloscd as am operating lease. therefore the following
adjustments have been made to the prior year comparanves:

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2020

Total assets, initially reported Uss 756.361
Adjustment to Right of Use Asset 756.361)

Total Assets, restated -

Total liabilities and equity, initially reported Uss 760,550

Adjustment to Accounts payable and accrued expenses 4,189
Adjmstment to lease liability (760.550)

Total liabilities and equity, restated 4.189

17
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1. Impact of change in acconnting policy (continued)

A tat w
Original Restated
2020 2020
Optrﬁﬁng activities

Net income for year 2.749.661 2.749.661

Add/{deduoer):

tems not affecting the movement of cash:
Depreciation 237.971 27.519
Financing activities

Repayment of lease liabilities (210.452) -

13. Subsequent events

In preparing these consolidated financial statements. management has evaluated and disclosed all
material subsequent events up to March 30, 2022 which is the date that the consolidated financial

statements were available 1o be issued

18
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2022 10 531,915 7,851
2022 10 31
147.59
2022 10 3,420
1925
2022 10 62,992,338 92 9,704
1995
2022 10 10
2022 10 87,677,000 8,334
2022 10 100
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1.1 1993
1.2
1960
1.3
1993
2020
2020
1.4
1.5 2021 12
12,451 3,145
2020
2020
1.6
2.1
CIMA
CIMA
2.2
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2.3
2.4 CIMA CIMA
CIMA
2.5 2020
15

CIMA
2.6
3.1

CIMA CIMA
CIMA CIMA

CIMA

3.2
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CIMA 100,000 80,000
CIMA
CIMA
15
80,000 100,000
CIMA
21 CIMA
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4.2 CIMA
CIMA
4.3
CIMA
21
4.4 2006 12 27
CIMA CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
5.1
5.2
CIMA

48
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5.5 CIMA
CIMA

5.6 CIMA

5.7

5.8

8,536

42,682
8,536

CIMA
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CIMA 10
CIMA
CIMA
17
CIMA
24,390 30,488
36,585
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6.2

6.3

1907

150
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CIMA

1925

50



6.4

2016

50
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50

CIMA

.1 CIMA CIMA
CIMA

500

CIMA CIMA
CIMA CIMA

CIMA
10

CIMA CIMA

.7 CIMA 7.9
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7.8 7.7 CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA

CIMA CIMA
7.9 7.7 CIMA
7.10 CIMA 7.9 CIMA
7.11 CIMA CIMA
7.12 7.9 7.9

CIMA CIMA

7.13 7.9
7.14 7.13
7.15 7.9 7.9

CIMA CIMA CIMA

CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA

CIMA

7.16 7.9 7.9 7.15
CIMA CIMA

7.17 7.15 CIMA

CIMA
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94
7.9
7.9
CIMA 7.9
CIMA
CIMA CIMA
500
CIMA CIMA
CIMA
10
CIMA
10
CIMA
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8.8 CIMA 8.10
8.9 CIMA 8.8
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA
8.10 8.8 CIMA

8.11 CIMA 8.10 CIMA CIMA
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8.15 8.10
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8.16 8.10
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8.17
CIMA
CIMA 8.10
8.18 CIMA 8.16
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8.10
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CIMA

8.10

8.10

CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

8.10

8.15

8.10

CIMA

CIMA

CIMA
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9.1 CIMA CIMA

9.2 9.1 9.1

CIMA

9.3 CIMA

9.1 9.1

9.4 CIMA

CIMA

CIMA
9.5 CIMA CIMA CIMA

9.6 CIMA

20
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Independent auditor' s report

To G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Austraian High Dividend Equity Fund

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Australian
High Dividend Equity Fund (a series - trust of Offshore Strategy Fund) (the Fund) as at June 30, 2022, and the
results of its operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

What we have audited
The Fund's financial statements comprise

the statement of assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2022;

the schedule of investments as at June 30, 2022;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended,;
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other expranatory
information.

Basisfor opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA
Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statementsin accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are conditions and
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued, or available to be issued, and
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used
by the Fund.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of userstaken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internul control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Other Matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its
capacity as trustee of the Fund in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
October 28, 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
To the Directors of International Management Services Ltd.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Management Services Ltd. (the
“Company”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2021, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in shareholder's equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in al material respects, the financial
position of the Company as at December 31, 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then
ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium- Sized Entities (“IFRS
for SMES").

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for the Company’s directors as a body for regulatory filing
purposes only. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent
inwriting.

Basisfor Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“1SAS’). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Sandards), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IFRS for SMEs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as awhole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assuranceis a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
meateria if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
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resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company’s interna control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financia statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
amanner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

Grant Thornton
George Town
Grand Cayman
March 30, 2022
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I ndependent auditor's report

To G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its capacity as trustee of Australian High Dividend Equity Fund

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Australian
High Dividend Equity Fund (a series - trust of Offshore Strategy Fund) (the Fund) as at June 30, 2021, and the
results of its operations, changes in its net assets, its cash flows and the financial highlights for the year then ended
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

What we have audited
The Fund's financial statements comprise

the statement of assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2021;

the schedule of investments as at June 30, 2021;

the statement of operations for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended;
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the financial highlights for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other expranatory
information.

Basisfor opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAS). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants (IESBA Code). We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA
Code.

Responsibilities of management for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for evaluating whether there are conditions and
events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Fund's ability to continue as a going
concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued, or available to be issued, and
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to this evaluation unless the liquidation basis of accounting is being used
by the Fund.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of userstaken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with 1SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internul control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Fund's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

Other Matter

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for G.A.S. (Cayman) Limited solely in its
capacity as trustee of the Fund in accordance with the terms of our engagement letter and for no other purpose.
We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
December 1, 2021
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